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EARLY STEAM NAVIGATION.
No. 3.

Philadelphia 1785,

September 27th. 1785. At a special meeting of the American Philosophical Society

A model accompanied with a drawing and description of a machine for working a boat, against the Stream, by means of a Steam Engine, was laid before the Society by JOHN FITCH.

At a meeting of the American Philosophical Society, on December 2d. 1785.

A copy of the drawing and description of a machine for working a boat against the current, which, some time ago, was laid before the Society by Mr. JOHN FITCH, be, this evening, presented to them.

Extract from the Minutes


SAMUEL MAGAW

One of the Secretaries.

In October I called on the ingenious Mr. Henry, of Lancaster, to take his opinion of my drafts, who informed me, that I was not the first person who had thought of applying Steam to vessels; that be had conversed with Mr. Andrew Ellicott as early as the year 1775, and that Mr. Paine, author of Common Sense, had suggested the same thing to him in the winter of 1778 ; that some time after, he (Mc Henry) thinking more seriously of the matter, was of opinion it might be easily perfected and accordingly made some drafts which he proposed to lay before the Philosophical Society and which he then showed me, but added as he had neglected to bring them to public view, and as I had first published the plan to the world, he would lay no claim to the invention. The following I have been favored with from Mr. Ellicott:

No 4.

Baltimore, Apra 26th 1788.

I do hereby certify, that early in the year one thousand, seven hundred and seventy five, Mr William Henry, of Lancaster, conversed with me on the subject of steam and intimated that be thought it might be advantageously applied to the Navigation of Boats.

(Signed) 
ANDREW ELLICOTT.

From Lancaster I went to the Assembly of Virginia, first waiting on Governor Johnson, of Maryland, who, notwithstanding the letters he has since written in favour of Mr. Rumsey, acknowledged a merit in my invention, and that it ought to be encouraged, as will presently appear. During my journey through Maryland, in October, I passed through Frederick Town, and every where published my Plan. In Virginia I waited on his Excellency General Washington, who, in the course of conversation) informed me, that the thought of applying steam was not original, that Mr. Rumsey had mentioned Steam to him; but nothing that passed in the conversation with General Washington had the least tendency to convey the idea of Mr. Rumsey's relying on Steam, and General Washington's letter, page
10, in Mr. Rumsey's Pamphlet, clears up the matter‑for the General himself did not conceive any such thing. Knowing that the thought of applying Steam to Boats had been suggested by other Gentlemen long before, I left his Excellency General Washington with all the elated prospects that an aspiring projector could entertain, not doubting but I should reap the full benefit of the project, for although I found that some had conceived the thought before, yet I was the first that ever exhibited a plan to the public; and was fully convinced that I could not interfere with Mr. Rumsey, otherwise the known candor of General Washington must have pointed out to me such interference. I immediately applied to the Legislature of  Virginia for assistance, to execute my plan, who signified their wish to encourage my designs, but that the state of their finances prevented it‑the then Governor of the state, Patuck Henry, Esq. received from me an obligation with provision, that if I procured in that
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state a sale for one thousand of my Maps of the N. W. part of the United States, at 6 f 8 each, I should exhibit a Steam Boat on the waters of Virginia, within nine months or forfeit and pay to the State of Virginia @350. as appears by the following certificate:

No. 6.
I certify that John Fitch has left in my hands a bond payable to the Governor for the time being for @350. conditioned for exhibiting his steam Boat when he receives subscriptions for 1000 of his maps, 6 f 8 each.

November 16th 1785.

(Signed)






P. HENRY.
I then returned to Maryland and acquainted Governor Jonnson of my expected assistance in Virginia, and that I intended applying to the Assembly of Maryland then sitting, to promote and patronise my scheme‑Governor Johnson gave me the following Letter to General Smallwood, the then Governor of the state.

No. 7.
Frederick Town November 25th 1785.

SIR

Mr. John Fitch of Bucks county, in Pennsylvania, called on me in his way to Richmond; he has gone through a variety of scenes in the back country, which has enabled him to collect a knowledge of a great part of the new states, on which and other helps he has made a map useful and entertaining; his ingenuity in this way strongly recommends him, but his genius is not confined to this alone, he has spent much thought on an improvement of the Steam‑engine, by which to gain a first power applicable to a variety of uses, amongst others to force vessels forward in any kind of water; if this engine can be simplified, constructed and made to work at a small expense, there is no doubt but it will be very useful in most great works, and amongst them in ship building. Mr. Fitch wants to raise money to make an experiment on Boats, the countenance that he has met with in Virginia be hopes will enable him to do it, he wishes also to make other experiments, and is willing to enter into engagements to apply a large proportion of the sales of his maps, his principle fund. I believe his passion for this improvement will be ample security for his applying the money in that way;‑all that I have to request of you Sir, is, that you will give him an opportunity to converse with you, you will soon perceive he is a man of real genius and modesty, your countenancing him will follow of course.








I am Sir Your Excellency's most obedient and most humble Servant










THOS JOHNSON.


(Subscribed)

His Excellency Governor Smallwood.


Favor of

Mr. Fitch.

From hence it plainly appears that Governor Johnson could not at that time have any idea of my scheme interfering with Mr. Rumsey's as seems to be now insinuated in that gentlemans letter to Mr. Rumsey, No. 14 of his Pamphlet.

I attended the session of the legislature about three weeks after receiving this letter, and on my petition for assistance to execute my plan, they made me the following report or nearly in these words (as may appear by examining their minutes) 11 However desirous it is for liberal and enlightened legislators to encourage useful arts, yet the state and condition of our finances are such that there can be no advance of public money at present." From this report it is proved beyond all doubt, that the Assembly of Maryland did not conceive my plan the same as Mr. Rumsey's‑finding that I
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was undoubtedly the first person in America that could be termed the inventor of a steam Boat, either agreeably to custom, or equity, I thought it prudent to apply to the different states for the exclusive privileges for the emoluments of such invention, which were granted by New Jersey in March 1786 by Delaware, New‑York and Pennsylvania, in the winter and spring following, and by Virginia in October 1787.

I have from the time of my first thought pursued my scheme with unremitted application, without a suspicion of an interruption, until the circulation of Mr. Rumsey's invidious Pamphlets, the contents of which I now find it necesssary to take under consideration, not doubting but that the design and tendency of that production will be a sufficient apology for the plainness with which I shall treat it.

Mr. Rumsey says in page 2, "That in the month of September, 1781 he exhibited the model of a Boat to his Excellency General Washington at Bath in Berkeley County, calculated for stemming the current of rapid rivers only constructed on principles very different from (his) present one ; satisfied of the experiment of her making way against a rapid stream by the force of the stream the General was pleased to give me a most ample certificate of her efficacy." Here it is to be observed, that no mention was made to General Washington of steam at the time of such exhibition ; the principles on which the Boat was propelled, were entirely unconnected with, and distinct from steam; being simply a model propelled by water wheels, cranks, and setting poles ; a mode which was many years ago tried on the river Schuylkill by a farmer near Reading, but without success. From an exhibition of this plan it was that Mr. Rumsey procured the certificate from General Washington, and on that certificate were Mr. Rumsey's laws founded. In his petitions to the several legislatures, he prayed for no exclusive right, for the use of Steam Boats; neither did be make mention of Steam, to their committees; or even suggest an idea of the kind; as proof of which, I offer the following petition to the Assembly of Pennsylvania the certificate from General Washington, accompanying it, and the certificate of Manuel Eyre, Esquire, who was one of the committee of Assembly, who reported in Mr. Rumsey's‑ favor.

IL

No. 8.

1 have seen the model of Mr. Rumsey's Boats, constructed to work against streams: examined the powers upon which it acts, been eye witness to an actual experiment, in running water of some rapidity ; and give it as my opinion (a1though I bad little faith before) that be has discovered the art of working boats by mechanism and small manual assistance against rapid currents; that the discovery is of vast importance; may be of the greatest usefulness in our inland navigation, and, if it succeeds, of which I have no doubt, that the value of it is greatly enhanced by the simplicity of the works, which when seen and explained may be executed by the most common mechanic.

Given under my hand at the town of Bath, County of Berkeley in the State of Virginia this 7th of September 1784.

GEORGE  WASHINGTON.


No 9.
To the Honourable the Representatives of the State of Pennsylvania in General Assembly. met.

Gentlemen,

Whereas your petitioner has formed a plan for facilitating the navigation of rapid rivers; he therefore doth propose to construct a certain species of Boats of the burthen of ten tons which shall sail or be propelled by the combined influence of certain mechanical powers thereto applied, the distance of between twenty‑five and forty miles per day, against the current of a rapid river, notwithstanding the velocity of the water should move at the rate of five miles per hour and upwards, with the burthen ‑of ten tons on board, to be wrought at no greater expense than that of three bands ; and as a premium 
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of so useful an invention, your petitioner prays for an act to pass this honorable house, granting to your petitioner, his heirs and assigns, the. sole and exclusive right of constructing, navigating and employing boats constructed upon his new invented model upon each and every creek, river, bay, inlet and harbour within the limits and jurisdiction of this commonwealth, for and during the term of ten years, fully to be completed and ended, to be computed from the first day of January next; provided always, that the legislature of this commonwealth may, at any time within the term aforesaid, abolish the exclusive right herein prayed for by the payment of ‑ pounds in gold or silver. And your peti​tioner, as in duty bound, shall pray. 


JAMES RUMSEY.

The foregoing is a true copy of the original petition remaining on the files of the General Assembly and read in the house November 26, 1784.










          J.
SHALLUS, Ast. Clk.

No 10.
Philadelphia 6th May, 1788,

This may certify that I the subscriber was in Assembly for the year 1784, and was appointed one of the committee to report on Mr James Rumsey's petition for his boat to go against the streams of rapid rivers, and that there was no mention nor any idea held up to the committee that it was to be propelled by the force of steam.

                                                                                     (Signed)




MANUEL EYRE,

Now I ask, whether it does not amount to a positive proof that Mr Rumsey had no sort of reference to, or dependence on Steam?  General Washington says, "It is so simple that it may be executed by the most common mechanic;" which certainly his excellency would not have said of a Steam‑Engine ; a machine that has cost me two years to understand and compleat. If we examine the Petition, we shall find, that it confirms the General's idea of simplicity ; for Mr Rumsey says 41 it may be wrought at no greater expense than that of three hands," plainly indicating, that the expense of fire was not in contemplation ; and to put the matter out of all doubt, Mr Eyre declares, "There was no idea held up to the committee that it was to be propelled by Steam."

All Mr. Rumsey's laws were obtained, in consequence of his model, shewn to General Washington at Bath ; which, as I have said, was nothing but water wheels, cranks and setting poles; therefore he could have no pretension to the use of Steam, under those laws. With the same propriety, his claim might extend to every power and every machine in the United States ; as soon as any man had invented one that would suit his purpose. So that upon his plan of law making, no other man would be safe in expending his money, but all must be swallowed up by his pretendedly ambiguous laws. But I am happy in knowing, that his laws as well as his claims, cannot interfere with mine, for had be professed any reliance on Steam ; or any intention to apply it to his boats, be certainly would not have neglected inserting so important a part of the scheme, in his petitions to the different legislatures. Nor would he have prayed to be invested with the exclusive privilege, to use boats, constructed on such different principles from those he really intended to pursue. In Me Rumsey's act passed in Pennsylvania, it is stiled "The exclusive right of constructing, navigating and employing boats built and to be built on his new invented mode, " and this new invented mode (viz. cranks, water wheels and setting poles) is all lie was entitled to under that law. Can it be supposed that the legislature would not have included Steam in their laws, if they had been informed by Mr. Rumsey that it was his grand dependence ; the essential, the vital part of his scheme as he now professes. That they bad no such intimation given them is very evident from their encouragement to me; and the laws since passed, are the fullest proofs of the received meaning of Mr. Rumsey's petition, viz. that they had no connection

VOL. II. 
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with steam. And that Mr. Rumsey did not think himself misunderstood, must certainly be granted ; because be made no objection to any of my petitions, as interfering with his Laws,‑ which, agreeable to his own declarations, were founded on principles very different from a Steam‑boat That he had no claim to Steam under his laws, is evident, from his confession in page 4, line 3 1, where he says "I find my idea of Steam was nearly matured before Steam had ever entered his head by his confession to Governor Johnson viz. April 1785.11 Now can it be supposed that Mr. Rumsey had made considerable improvements on Steam‑engines in 1784, or that he had obtained laws securing a right to the use of Steam to Boats, when at the time of his petitioning for, and the passing of those laws, he confesses his idea of Steam was not matured.

He says in page 3, line 1, 11 In the course of that fall and winter (of 1784) he made progress in some Steam‑engines, and page 16 line 7, of Governor Johnsons letter, "I think in October 1785, you told me you relied on Steam for your first power, and wished me to promote your having some cylinders cast at my brother's and my works; the attempt did not succeed." Speaking of General Washington, the Governor adds 11 But the General seems to have thought it an immatured idea that lie did not imagine you then rayed on" (viz. in November 1784.) These two last acknowledgements on the part of Mr. Rumsey, must destroy the facts alledged in the first, viz. that 11 He made progress in Steam‑engines in the fall and winter of 1784." For the information given to General Washington in confidence respecting the boat, was such that the General "Did not think he then relyed on Steam," which is fully confirmed, by his making use of the General's certificate to the Assemblies, wherein the discovery is treated as being "enhanced by its simplicity, and may be executed by the most common mechanic" which surely no person would say of a Steam‑engine.

His application to Governor Johnson for castings for a Steam‑engine, is insinuated to have been in October or November 1785, which I must deny, and refer to the Governor's own letter for the proof; being confident that no such application had been made to that gentleman by Mr. Rumsey, previous to my obtaining the letter of Recommendation to Governor Smallwood, But even had it been true it goes no further back than October or November 1785, which was the very time I was publishing my plan through Pennsylvania, Maryland and Virginia, and was near three months after the time I laid it before Congress‑And yet this attempt to have a cylinder cast, at Governor Johnson's works in October or November 1785, is the first essay towards bringing forward a Steam‑engine, that is offered in proof, admitting it to have been at the time Governor Johnson supposes, which I cannot allow for reasons I shall presently offer in addition to what I have already said on this bead. Then how are we to reconcile the assertion of Mr Rumsey's having made considerable progress in Steam‑engines 11 in the fall or winter of 1784, when it appears his first attempt (by this account) was not made until October or November 1785 as mentioned by Governor Johnson's letter. I shall hereafter show to a demonstration, beyond all possibility of doubt, that this same engine, said to have been completely made in Frederick Town in December 1785, was not begun until March 1786. On comparing Governor Johnson's letter, sent under my care to General Smallwood, dated November 25th, 1785, (a considerable time after I first explained to him my model and acquainted him of my intentions of pursuing the scheme) with his letter to Mr. Rumsey, dated December the 18th. 1787, it must unavoidably call in question the memory or candour of the writer, the latter I most certainly ought to acquit, and should have been happy bad I obtained the last explanation on this bead, when I lately made a journey to his house ; expressly to procure it ; possibly it may still be received. If Governor Johnson knew, and believed the legal priority of Mr. Rumsey's claim, to a Steam boat, and was entrusted with his secret, bow was it possible he could have encouraged a man 11 of real genius and modesty 11 (as be was pleased to term me) to proceed on an experiment, which terminate as it would, must inevitably end in loss and disappointment. For should the experiment fail, which was then thought very doubtful, the small fund, which I should 
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raise by the sale of my maps, must likewise fail ; for I was to expend it in Virginia as appears by Governor Henry's certificate page 6. Should the experiment succeed to the utmost of my wishes, I should suffer more severely, not in my money and time only, but in my reputation ; and meet the treatment of a man trespassing on the rights of a fellow citizen, who had a law in his favour Had Governor Johnson at the time be encouraged me, known the priority of claim to be fairly and justly in Mr Rumsey, bad he been then in possession of his secret, or had he believed any title vested in Mr Rumsey, to the exclusive use of Steam, under the law of Maryland, so recently passed in his favor, the Governor certainly would not have requested a gentleman of General Smallwood's rank to countenance me, not only to trespass on the rights of Mr. Rumsey, but to violate a law, which as Governor of the state he was bound to support. Another circumstance corroborates my assertion of misrelation of facts, as to time.


It will be recollected that Governor Johnson's letter recommending me so very minutely and warmly

to the patronage of Governor Smallwood, was dated 25th November 1785.  And in his letter to Mr. .Rumsey, the Governor says, "In October or November 1785, you told me you relied on Steam for your first power and wished me to promote your having some castings at my brother's and my works: the attempt did not succeed‑I considered myself under an obligation to secrecy, till in the progress of making copper cylinders in Frederick Town, some time after, when I found that the designed purpose

of the cylinder was a subject of pretty general conversation." --Now the Governor's letter in my favour was dated 25th. November 1785, and the whole machinery is sworn to have been compleated on the 1st December following, only six days after the time of my getting this letter of recommendation‑and as the. cylinder was a subject of "pretty general conversation," I could not have been kept in ignorance by the Governor from his "Obligation to secrecy" because. it was no longer a secret in Frederick‑town.
The thing was impossible in its nature, that the cylinders and copper works should have been making, and a subject of general conversation, in Frederick‑town, on 25th day of November 1785, the time I was obtaining my letter of introduction to Governor Smallwood, in that

very town; and must have beard it myself if Governor Johnson had been so disengenuous as to conceal it from me; which is absurd to suppose; for I made my business publicly known in that town, and therefore, if Mr. Rumsey's cylinders were the subject of general conversation, I must have heard it from every quarter; therefore it clearly follows, that the conversation about casting of the cylinders, the obligation of secrecy, and the general conversation about the design of the cylinders in Frederick‑town, could not have happened in the year 1785.‑If Mr. Rumsey had made Governor Johnson his confident "In October or November 1785,11 it is highly improbable that he would so far have deceived Mr. Rumsey and me, as to encourage my pursuit of a similar nature, within so short a time as six days of its being compleated.‑And it is equally improbable that Mr. Rumsey should have communicated this secret and requested his assistance in procuring castings immediately after my being with the Governor, as there was not time for it‑the engine being sworn as I have said to have been all compleated six days after that visit‑Then the following conclusion may be safely drawn, that Governor Johnson did at some subsequent day (so long after as that he forgot the letter he had given me) offer to assist Mr. Rumsey with castings ; which not succeeding, an application was made to coppersmiths in Frederick‑town the ensuing spring, who in the course of the summer 1786, delivered their work to Mr. Rumsey.‑About this time it was that the matter became a subject of 11 general conversation ;"‑and if winter stopped the putting of the whole machinery into motion as was sworn to by Messrs. Barns and Morrow, it was the winter of 1786, which is long after my boat was built, and my model of a Steam‑engine com​pleated.‑Of this my readers will soon be fully convinced‑and a further weighty proof is‑that as Mr. Rumsey professes his hurrying on his engine., was on account of my setting up pretensions, it cannot be believed that he would suffer my petition to lay before the assembly of Maryland, and be reported

612

EARLY STEAM NAVIGATION.

on in my favour about the 20th December 1785, nineteen days after he says his boat and engine were finished‑Mr. Foy the member from Frederick‑town must have told the tale, and laid in a claim for his countryman ,‑‑but I repeat it again, that I was in that very Frederick‑town on my way to the Assembly in the fall of 1785,every where publishing my scheme, and no Engine was began there during that year, nor until March following, as will be fully shewn‑but before I come to my proofs I wish to confute him out of his own writings.

Let me pursue his explanation still further, and ask, what could be the use of secresy in this business, if Mr. Rumsey, as he alledges, was secured in the use of the invention by law ? Could be expect any countenance from the public, for a scheme wrapped up in secresy and which is confessed by Governor Johnson to have remained so until after I bad published my plan, both in Maryland and Virginia ‑Mr. Rumsey and his confidential friends might have died, and then no advantage could have arisen to the community ; and until such advantage was publicly imparted, certainly nothing could be expected from the public.

In page 16 be inserts part of a letter from General Washington in answer to his of the 10th. March 1785 : 11 It gives me much pleasure to find by your letter, that you are not less sanguine in your boat project, than when I saw you at Richmond, and that you have made such further discoveries as will render them more extensively useful than was at first expected "‑but still it is plain that the General only alluded to the setting pole plan, for in his answer to Governor Johnson (even after my petition was before the Assembly of Maryland) he still thought that Mr. Rumsey bad "No reliance on Steam"​--The General's saying that he thought Mr..Rumsey's idea of steam was "Immature"   in November, 1784 (the time they were at Richmond) is a proof that Rumsey's "being not less sanguine" must have alluded to his setting pole scheme because no man can be said to be sanguine in any thing of which he has but "An immatured idea;" and  "Further discoveries" will not apply to Steam, because Steam could be no new discovery, and was mentioned to the general at Richmond ; nor is any thing mentioned of Steam in the General's Letter ; at least in the extract. It is reasonable to suppose, if Stearn had been the dependable discovery, it would have been treated on more largely, and have produced a more pointed answer ; the truth is, Mr. Rumsey placed no dependance on Steam, until my plan came forward, and his own had failed ; conscious of the weakness of his claim, amid the futility of his arguments to support it, he found that something more was necessary than merely an "Immatured idea "; therefore to add weight to his plea, he endeavours to establish himself under the solemnity of oaths, and attempts to prove, that the machinery for his Steam‑engine, was executed in Baltimore and Frederick‑town, so as to be compleated and put together on the Is'. of December 1785. These solemn and positive declarations are contained in the depositions of Charles Morrow and Joseph Barns (No. 11 and 12 of his pamphlet) who are probably interested in the scheme, The reader will please to examine these depositions ; they are produced to support facts, which be is conscious ought to have existed at the time they specify, otherwise his pretensions would consequently fall.
These two

witnesses testify to absolute facts, and yet affix different periods of time for one and the same transaction.
Page 13. line 14. of Charles Morrow's deposition, he says "About the first of December (1785) it appears to the said Charles that the whole of the machinery was ready to be fixed to the boat which came down to the falls of Shanandoah for experiment ; but the ice then commencing prevented it for the winter :" and line 28 of the same deposition be says, "In the spring of 1786, the machinery

was put on the boat and the first trial made, said Charles being on board," Page 15, line. 11 of Joseph Barn's deposition be says, 11 In December (1‑18‑5) it was (put on the boat), at Shanandoah falls,"  These different declarations or different times affixed, at which the machinery was put on the boat, of themselves tend much to destroy the validity of their oaths ; for the time the machinery was put on board, must have been a fact, so notorious, that it could not admit of mistake, in a mind properly
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impressed with the importance of an oath. In page 10 & 11 William Askew swears that Mr. Rumsey's machinery will not weigh more than eight hundred pounds, and that he is well convinced .that it may be made for @20. It is a well known fact that )f Mr. Rumsey's machinery, the greatest part, must consist of copper, or Brass such as cylinders, tubes, cocks and valves, together with curious wrought iron ; now 800 pounds (were it all made of‑ Iron) could not cost less than double the sum. As this evidence is not brought to prove anything about Mr. Rumsey's priority it is of no importance, and the absurdity it contains might have been spared. Whether his machine or my machine are best, is nothing to the purpose ; I have been daily altering, and never watched his motions and blunders, as it is evident he did mine. He it seems made a secret of his doings, whilst mine were open to all the world.

It is proper I should not pass over this part of my work, without acknowledging, that I have been greatly indebted to the assistance of my ingenious friend Mr. Henry Voight of this city : who has uniformly, from my first undertaking to build a boat, afforded me valuable hints ; and has united with me in perfecting my plans. To his inventive genius alone, I am indebted for the improvement in our mode of creating steam; a thought which struck him above two years ago, the drawing having been shewn to several persons ; for we never made a secret of any part of our works ; but a fear of departing from old established plans, made me fearful of adopting it, until I bad found by his invention of creating steam, that a condenser might be constructed on the same principles (viz a spiral pipe or worm) only by reversing the agent, for the best way of applying fire to evaporate water into steam, must also be the best way of applying cold water to condense steam, that is the bringing the greatest quantity of fire into action upon the greatest surface of water‑or the contrary‑And we had an additional inducement to study this subject because the common way of fixing boilers, required so great a load of brick work, that it over‑loaded our boat. Therefore, the first thought that must occur to every man, attempting to* raise steam on board a boat, must be to acquire that method which would require the least weight. Since Mr. Rumsey has been in town I have been told that he says I have got his mode of creating steam ; whether that be the case or Dot (or whether he has got mine) I do not at present know. But as both Mr. Rumsey and Mr. Voight laid their drawings and plans before the Philosophical Society the same day, it will appear how far they are alike. And Mr. Voight made a prior entry of his plans in the Prothonotary's office, in this city. If there should happen to be any similarity between them, it would be nothing surprising ; having the same load on both their minds, they both sought relief ; and, as sick persons, lacking a doctor, chance might have led them to the same man ; and I had an undoubted right to apply every medicine that suited the disorder‑but I will proceed with the pamphlet.

In page 17, Henry Bedinger says, that Mr. James Rumsey informed him in or before the month of March 1784, that he intended to give a trial to a steam‑boat, and he believes he mentioned such intention of Mr. Rumsey's in Kentucky ; which seems to have been a breach of honour, as it must be supposed Mr. Rumsey gave it to him in confidence ; for be treated his idea of Steam as a secret to Governor Johnson long after ; thus on the disclosure of this friend, Mr. Rumsey builds a charge against me as having filched his scheme in Kentucky ; this like his other charges is founded in falsehood, for it is a well known fact, that I have not been in Kentuckey since the year 1781. The depositions of George Rootes, No. 8, and Nicholas Orrick, No 10, testifying to his having informed them, in the year 1784  of his projecting a steam boat is quite useless for reasons already given. Messrs Henry and Paine

projected it before him ; and if bare projection was sufficient to build a claim on, I have no doubt but there are people now in their graves, whose heirs might set up more early claims than either of us.  If Mr. Rumsey was in 1784, projecting a boat to work by steam, with a view of carrying it into actual execution, why did he not apply for the use of steam in his laws! the reason is plain‑General Washington gives it for him; 11 it was an immatured idea and on which he thought he did not rely."   I
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must therefore contend that these depositions, lose their weight, and the whole of his conduct proves to a demonstration, that he could not have been engaged in making steam engines at the time mentioned by those witnesses, with a view of applying them to his boat. In page 20, No. 18, be inserts a paragraph of a letter said to have been written by a Mr. Daniel Buckley, near Philadelphia, by which be fixes the time of his applying himself to the "perfecting his steam engine with much ardour." In part of said inserted extract, speaking of me he stiles me, "A Mr. Fitch of Philadelphia ;" now his letter, if the facts it recites are true, must have been written after the 17th of April 1786, and not in 1785, as insinuated by Mr Rumsey, for I was not an inhabitant of Philadelphia until after that period ; nor did I ever hear that Mr. Rumsey was employed in making a steam boat until long after that time; consequently I could not have used any expressions about it until April 1786. This is a very important part of the prevarication, and carrying the air of great plausibility, I must beg my Reader's close attention to it, as I Shall prove it to be false. Page 3, he says, "I wrote to General Washington the 10th March 1785, that I intended applying both powers (meaning steam as one) to build a boat after the model of one he saw, at Bath, &c. and as I could gain truth only by successive experiments, incredible delays were produced, &c. I bore the pelting of ignorance and ill‑nature with all resignation, until I was informed some dark assassins had endeavoured to wound the reputation of his Excellency, and the other gentlemen, who saw my exhibition at Bath, for giving me a certificate. The reflections upon these worthy gentlemen gave me inexpressible uneasiness, and I should certainly have quitted my steam engines, though in great forwardness, and have produced the boat, for which I had obtained the certificate, for their justification and my own, had not a Mr. Fitch came out at this critical minute, with his steam‑boat, asserting that he was the first inventor of steam, and that I had gotten what small knowledge I had from him, &c." Now this embarrassment being confessedly subsequent to the letter to General Washington, just mentioned, viz. 10th March, 1785. The letter asserted to have been written by Mr. Buckley is incontrovertibly fixed between this date and the 1st of December following, the time sworn to for compleating of the steam engine ; therefore as Mr Rumsey quitted his setting pole scheme and 11 pursued the perfecting his steam engine with increased ardor (page 3) on the receipt of this letter ; it becomes of moment to ascertain its exact date and I shall show that this letter which set Messrs. Rumsey and Barns to work in such baste and with such increased ardor" was not written until near a year after the time it is pretended, and the copper works said to have been made in 1785, were not begun until 1796‑so that this machinery completed so briskly and sworn to have been on board in December 1785 has made a jump of just twelve months, in order to persuade the public into a belief that Mr. Rumsey's works were begun time enough to supplant mine.‑‑‑‑" At that critical minute' says he "Came out a Mr. Fitch asserting I had got what small knowledge, I had from him"‑‑At what critical minute I ask? Mr. Rumsey's third page will tell us‑In March 1785 be informed General Washington by letter that he intended applying steam to boats ; in December following, Messrs Barns and Morrow swear the boat was ready ; and his exhibiting this boat, be confesses was hurried on by the intelligence received from Mr Buckley ; consequently this work and this "Encreased ardor" was subsequent to the date of the letter from Mr. Buckley. Then if I can fix the time of Mr. Buckley's writing the letter, I shall establish a certain fixed period at which Mr. Rumsey acknowledges his works were not on board his boat. And I felicitate myself in 'being able to do it so Incontestably as to prove from his own writings that he has given false dales and assigned false reasons for his movements. He knew at the time of inserting that quibbling account, that it would not bear the light, and therefore did not dare to give the date of M Buckley's Letter, wrote at that "Critical minute," for M Buckley's letter would have shown this "Critical minute" was not in 1785, when they swear the steam‑boat was ready, but in the summer of 1786, full twelve months after I bad made my plans public, and was procuring patterns for my present cylinder, and bad made
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a complete model of a steam‑engine in brass and iron.‑I have been at the pains of walking 66 miles to Pequa and Lancaster to see Mr. Buckley, that I might obtain an additional proof (to the many others I shall produce) that Mr Rumsey has transposed the order of time and antedated facts. Mr. Buckley frankly told me all he knew of the matter and fixed the time of writing his letter, so circumstantially, to have been in 1786, and not in 1785, that not a doubt can remain‑and it will further appear from the certificate be has given me that the colouring as to fact, as well as to date, has been grossly disingenuous, as will be seen on comparing his certificate, No. 18, with the following :

No. 11.

This may certify that the paragraph that Mr James Rumsey has copied from my letter, which he

applies to the injury of Mr John Fitch's character, was not told to me by Mr Fitch, but by other

persons, who for reasons were convinced of his priority of invention. And as to the time of writing

the letter it was when Mr. Samuel Brigs was making patterns for Mr Fitch's castings. As witness

my hand this twelfth day of May, 1788.
DANIEL BUCKLEY.

On my return to Philadelphia I applied to Mr. Brigs in order to ascertain the Time of his making my patterns, and he freely gave me the following certificate :

No. 12
This may certify whom it may concern, that in the summer of 1786, 1 performed some turning work for John Fitch., being patterns for castings for his steam boat, and before that time I made no work for the said John Fitch; That I am acquainted with Daniel Buckley and saw him at my shop during that summer and at sundry times since, and we have frequently conversed about James Rumsey, but the particulars of any conversation with him. I do not recollect.










SAMUEL BRIGGS.

Affirmed the 15th. May 1788. that the foregoing is just and true, before

PLUNKT. FLEESON.

Thus, independant of all other proofs, have I brought a conclusive evidence out of Mr. Rumsey's own writings and from. his own testimonies, that the steam machinery, sworn to have been board in December, 1785, could not have been ready until December 1786 ; and here I might safely rest my defence, and very properly quote Mr. Rumsey's own words (annexed to the certificate No. 18.) viz 11 Should he incline to assert hereafter, what credit he will deserve, has been so clearly proved, that future impositions may be avoided, and those who spread a slander they do not believe) deserve the contempt of all honest men."

But I will proceed and must not omit remarking, that this third page of his work is very fatal to him. He says "Ishould certainly have quitted my steam engines (engines only in idea) though in great forwardness, and have produced the boat for which I had obtained the certificate, &c. had not a Mr. Fitch come out at this critical minute with his steam‑boat, &c. And further adds "Had I exhibited my first boat it would have been construed into an acknowledgement of Mr. Fitch's assertion, by producing a boat with which steam bad nothing to do ; these considerations compelled me to pursue the perfecting my steam engines with increased ardor." Thus I have a proof from himself, that the certificates from General Washington, &c. (which procured his laws in Virginia, Maryland and Pennsylvania) had no reference to steam consequently my laws for the exclusive use of steam applied to boats, cannot interfere either with his laws, or his expectations at the time of asking for them. I applied to the several legislatures openly and unguardedly without friends and without patrons ; and from the pure merit of my pretensions, met with success, without a whisper being breathed, that I was interfering
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with Mr. Rumsey. I am confident that be never conceived me to be a rival in navigating boats, until he found his own plan hopeless and mine likely to succeed.

In his third page he says, 111 wrote to General Washington 10th March 1785, that I intended applying both powers to a boat built after the model of the one he saw at Bath ; but the disadvantages before mentioned still remained and as I could gain truth only by successive experiments, incredible delays were produced‑and though my distresses were greatly increased thereby, &c."‑It is truly amazing that though be bad long before this letter, been making progress in Steam engines, and gaining truth by successive experiments, and incredible delays, insomuch that at the time of his proposing to get cylinders cast at Governor Johnson's works in October 1785, ‑he had the principal part of his work untouched ; I say it is amazing, that these incredible delays should all vanish as in an instant, and that between the time of his failing at Governor Johnson's, works in October or November 1785, and the first of December following, be should have completed his whole machinery, ready to be put on board.‑A Steam‑engine is a complex piece of work, and his subsequent transactions show that he found it so ; for it has taken him from the summer of 1786 (When he removed his works from Frederick‑town) to the winter of 1787 to make them ready for a fair experiment. No person therefore can be brought to believe, that his first machinery could have been conjured together in little more than 30 days.‑No such thing happened ‑ I have already sufficient proof to the contrary, and have no doubt but a multitude of corroborating witnesses will voluntarily offer themselves, when this pamphlet gets down to Frederick-town and Shepherds town, where I shall take some pains to have it circulated. It is truth alone I am in search of, in order to wipe off the imputation from my own character ; for as to stability of title to my exclusive rights, I shall not cast away an anxious thought about it.‑I am secured by my laws ‑and my 11 coadjutors," as Mr. Rumsey is pleased to term them, I am sure have DO sort of apprehension about the monies they have risqued ; and only wish that I should remove any aspersions that may be unjustly cast upon me‑Thus far it may be said they have an interest in my success, because a law in my favour in Maryland is yet depending,


I must not yet quit the subject of Mr. Buckley's letter in his third page, from whence it is plainly to be gathered, that subsequent to his letter of 10th March 1785, to General Washington be meant to tell the world he was busily employed in private experiments on Steam Engines, and that although his first setting pole boat 11 Bore the pelting of ignorance and ill nature," yet he (lid not set about making a Steam‑engine, for this bo t , until (as lie calls it) the critical moment when a Mr. Fitch with his Steam‑engine came out, asserting that 'be was the first inventor of Steam, and that 111 had gotten what small knowledge I had from him."‑Now as all his experiments were privately conducted, and be does not pretend to have begun his boat engine, until Mr. Buckley bad sent notice that I charged him with stealing knowledge from me ; I would ask any man where I was to obtain the grounds for my charge ? it could not be until I bad begun my own engine, and made it every where public‑then it follows that my pretended complaint against him must have been subsequent to My own works and prior to the beginning of his works for his boat in November (as he calls it) which from his own statement has laid a fair and just foundation for my claim of public priority, for private priority is out of the question,

as Mr. Henry, Mr. Ellicott and Mr. Paine are before us both.

Nay even after the real Steam‑engine for his boat was actually begun, we find it kept as the most profound secret, and from Charles Morrow's deposition it is declared, the boat came to Sheperds‑town early in the fall of 1785 ; that Mr. Barns went to Baltimore shortly after to have some machinery cast ; and on his return from Baltimore was sent to Frederick‑town in order to have some other things made (which could not consistently with Governor Johnson's letter be earlier than the beginning of November) and about the middle of November they were all finished viz. a boiler, two cylinders, pumps, pipes

[image: image1.png]
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&c.‑I confess this is very brisk work for a country town‑more than ever I could get in the city of Philadelphia. 


At Baltimore four large cocks were bespoke by Mr. Barns and the brass founder was told they were for the warm springs of Virginia as will presently appear; Governor Johnson was entrusted with the scheme in confidence, and copper‑works were carried on in Frederick‑town with great secresy--inasmuch that a citizen hearing it rumoured that they were for a Steam‑engine, applied to see them, but was refused (as will be shown) and the matter still remained a secret until, as Governor Johnson says, "The designed purpose of the cylinder was a subject of pretty general conversation in Frederick‑town"--Then during this interval of privacy, surely any man that should have conceived the same idea and brought it forward to public view, ought to be entitled to the right and advantages of the discovery for all these confidential persons, as I have already said, might have died and the world have lost the benefit‑Let me consider the danger of admitting this new doctrine of claims‑A man makes a valuable discovery‑be pursues it at a great expense and publishes it to the world ‑ a set of men combining together shall afterwards come forth, swear for each other, that they had been making the same kind of engine, many months before, and bring proofs from respectable characters, that they had hinted at the practicability of such a scheme, even before their private experiments. Will any man of the least particle of understanding allow, that this private work shall be admitted to contain sufficient evidence to overset the public works of a fair and open artist ? Surely not‑If it was once allowed, men would not be wanting to swear away from the real inventor, the most valuable discoveries in the world. All they would desire from the public claimant would be, for him to fix the earliest date to his discovery, and if it was 20 or even 50 years back they would prove that they themselves, their fathers or grandfathers, or some distant friend, had communicated it many years before.‑There is no end to this kind of proof; and both reason and law unite in defending the first public discoverer.‑It would be dangerous in the highest degree to deviate from this rule.‑If Mr. Rumsey did really and in good faith and conscience intend to carry into execution, the secret be communicated to General Washington, I can only say he was unlucky in delaying it so long, as to let me, with my subsequent discoveries, come forward before him; what I did was public‑it was notorious to all Virginia and Maryland and not a murmur was raised against me, not a syllable uttered (that ever I heard) charging me with interfering with Mr. Rumsey.‑The Assemblies of Virginia and Maryland encouraged my scheme, and nobody told me I should interfere with him.‑My petitions laid long before the Assembly of Virginia, and a law was ultimately passed in my favour, without objection or complaint. Mr. Rumsey has insinuated that I got my first thought from Captain Bedinger in Kentucky, who went there in 1784‑nay be goes so far in one place, as to say, he 44 Was told so" and in another that 44 Circumstances leave little room to doubt it." I have already declared that I have not been in Kentucky since the year 1781 : thus falls to the ground this part of his 11 Plagiarism" allegations‑But I will suggest to him, that it is much more probable, that all his determinations of beginning his Steam‑engine, might have come to him in a much straighter line, than from Kentucky to me. Captain Bedinger is so uncertain about the matter of his ever having mentioned steam in Kentucky, that he only says, coldly, that be 19 believes" he also mentioned " that it worked by steam." I will remind Mr. Rumsey, that I not only believe that I presented my plan to Congress) before the time be pretends to have spoken to Governor Johnson about getting cylinders for him, and before his copper works were bespoke, but the files of Congress will prove that in August 1785, 1 laid my plan before them; and nobody will suppose it was a very indirect road from Congress to each of the United States. A very few days after my plan was laid before them, Mr. Rumsey might have been furnished with a copy of it ; and if any member of Congress should know of such a transaction (certainly very innocent in itself) he will confer a great obligation on me by communicating it.‑But in Philadelphia it was public before it went to Congress, and long before Mr.
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